## No. 439409

# COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

## C. P. B. & L. TRUST

Appellant,

vs.

# PORT OF TACOMA

Respondent.

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

E//L// Wa

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION 11 2013 JAN -8 AMIN: 58 STATE OF WASHINGTON BY DEPUTY

Edward D. Campbell, WSBA # 439 Attorney for C.P.B. & L. Trust 9534 14<sup>th</sup> Ave NW Seattle, WA 98117-2308 Phone (206) 783 3410 ed@edcampbell.com<u>or</u>shes@seanet.com

#### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR and ISSUES**

(1) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port by ignoring prior notice and other contractual action requirements and permitting the Port to recover without compliance. The issue is: Was the Port of Tacoma barred from recovery by failing to timely file claims for metals contamination?

(2) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port by ignoring prior notice and other contractual action requirements and permitting the Port to recover without compliance. The issue is: Was the Port of Tacoma barred from recovery by failing to timely file claims for petroleum deposits?

(3) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port by ignoring prior notice and other contractual action requirements and permitting the Port to recover without compliance. The issue is: Was the Port of Tacoma barred from recovery by failing to provide the Trust with prior notice of proposed remediation, estimates of costs and fixed bids as required by the Purchase and Sale agreement?

(4) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port by ignoring prior notice and other contractual action requirements and permitting the Port to recover without compliance. The issue is; Was the Port of Tacoma barred from recovery by failing to provide the Trust with prior notice of proposed remediation as required by the Escrow contract?

(5) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment to the Port by misinterpreting the contractual requirement between the parties. The issue for review is: Did the court misinterpret the escrow agreement as something other than a guarantee requiring strict interpretation?

(6) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port in accepting the Port's accounting for losses without consideration of causes or the Port's culpability in the losses. The issue for review is: If the court accepts the Port's arguments that the Trust would be liable under the Model Toxics Control Act (MTCA) for the remediation claims, and thus not entitled to protection of the prior notice requirements of both the Purchase and Sale Agreement as well as the Escrow Agreement, then isn't the trust entitled to the Port's proportionate share of contribution for remediation as the primary cause of the release of the Toxins?

(7) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port in computing the Ports calculation of losses. The issue is: Where the contract called for notice prior to remediation, and even cost estimates and potential fixed bids for removal before the remediation, and none of this was provided, can the trial court accept the Port's figures for the costs of remediation where the entire contour of the land has been changed and all materials removed?

(8) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port in computing the Ports calculation of losses. The issue is: Where the contract called for notice prior to remediation and related contracts call for the Trust's rights of actions against third parties for potential remediation, where the port destroyed all evidence of the way the land was by changing the entire contour and character of the land before any notice of remediation was ever given?

(9) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port in accepting perjured testimony of the Port's losses. The issue is: Can the Trial Court accept false testimony on summary judgment to establish damages without at least requiring the witness to testify in open court at trial?

(10) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port by excluding evidence of the Trust on the law and facts. The issue is: Can the trial court determine what can be considered MTCA materials while excluding evidence that the Port has dealt differently with the same materials, in much larger quantities, in a fashion that would indicate it does not consider them MTCA materials in need of remediation almost across the street and in other nearby locations belonging to the Port?

(11) The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment of \$490,000 to the Port by excluding evidence of the Trust on the law and facts. The issue is: Can the trail court consider the existence of MTCA materials that did not become MTCA materials until exposed and released by the Port after the Port became the owner of the property and decided to completely change the profile and use of the property?

(12) The Trial Court erred in granting the Port of Tacoma Summary Judgment

by clearly favoring the Port on all issues in fact and at law while giving the Trust the least favorable position where the Trust has done nothing to deserve such treatment. The issue is: Does the Trust have a right to be treated equally with the Port of Tacoma anywhere in the state and in any court of the State under the laws of the State and the United States?

(13) The Trial Court erred in awarding attorney fees to the Port in the sum of \$143,479.27 as being totally outrageous and unconscionable. The issue is: Can the Trial Court award this or any amount of attorney fees to the Port where the Trust was only defending its rights to its own funds on the basis of the contractual languages to which the Port helped to draft that were clearly for the benefit of the Trust and the Port admitted it just failed to follow or overlooked? (14) The Trial Court erred in awarding attorney fees to the Port in the sum of \$143,479.27 as being totally outrageous and unconscionable. The issue here is: Where the amount of fees awarded that were clearly more than twice the amount of the Trust's fees and given the legal work that is shown in the file (an not the reams of papers developed by the Port's witnesses) the Trust did as much or more in legal work than the Port and its attorney is as qualified as that those of the Port to advocate in this case is the Trial Court justified in awarding such fees?

(15) The Trial Court erred in barring evidence of the Port's actions on similarly situated property throughout the Port of Tacoma. The issue is: Was the trial court justified in barring evidence and discovery into the Port's remediation practices throughout other parts of the Port of Tacoma in remediating or not remediating Asarco slag materials wherein MTCA substances such as arsenic and mercury might be released?

(16) The Trial Court erred in granting the Port summary judgment by finding that the Trust was liable for MTCA remediation in the absence of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Agreement because it was a secured creditor under a deed of trust for payment of part of the purchase price received by the seller. Issue to consider on review: Do all purchase money secured real property creditors, whether beneficiaries of mortgages or deeds of trust, assume the MTCA liabilities of the sellers of real estate in the State of Washington as a result of their interests in the real property, and if so, what is the duration of their liability for acts and omissions on the property, the length of the sellers interest, the length of the security interest, both, forever?

#### ARGUMENT

#### **STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

This court reviews the trial court's granting of summary judgments de

novo, Washington Imaging Services, L.L.C. v. Washington State Dept. of Revenue, 171 Wn.2d 548, 555, 252 P.3d 885 (2011).

Judicial review of question of law is always de novo. Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 558 (1988); Rasmussen v. Employment Sec., 98 Wn.2d 846, 849-50, 658 P.2d 1240, 1242 9 (1983).

Where all relevant evidence is in documentary or deposition form, the appellate court should be able to substitute its judgment for that of t he trial court about facts as well as application of law; *Southwest Wash. Prod. Credit Ass'n v Seatle First Nat'l Bank*, 19 Wn.App. 397,406, 577 P.2d 589, 594 (1978) *rev'd on other grounds*, 92 Wn.2d 30, 593 P.2d 167 (1979).

The Port argues that statutory descriptions of hazardous waste and contaminants may control its claims in this matter. "Whether a statute applies to a factual situation is a question of law," which we review de novo. *Quality Rock Products, Inc. v. Thurston County*, 139 Wn.App. 125, 133, 159 P.3d 1 (2007).

The Port has had the benefit of all rulings in is favor on fact and law to the total exclusion of the Trusts legal and factual arguments even in contravention of the literal words of the contracts involved showing a distinct bias against the Trust in violations of the equal protections of the laws under both the federal and state constitutions and such factual maters are reviewed *de novo*: *State v. Byers*, 85 Wn2d 783, 786, 539 P.2d 833, 835 (1975) (probable cause) *rev'd on other grounds, State v Byers*, 88 Wn2d 1, 554 P.2d 1334 (1977); *Bose Corp v. Consumers Union of the United States*, 466 U.S. 485, 508 n.27 (1984) (quoting *Rosenbloom v.Metromedia, Inc.*, 403 U.S. 54 (1971) (plurality opinion); *New Jersey Citizen Action v. Edison Township*, 797 F.2d 1250, 1259 (3d Cir. 1986)

The Port argues that it has produced sufficient uncontroverted evidence to support the full amount of its claims in this case. Washington State trial courts exercise broad discretion when deciding evidentiary matters, but those decisions are subject to an abuse of discretion standard. *Cox* v. *Spangler*, 141 Wn.2d 431,439, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll* v. *Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12,26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

In reviewing a trial court's order on a motion for new trial, an appellate court also applies an abuse of discretion standard. *Wooldridge* v. *Woolett*, 96 Wn.2d 659, 668, 638 P.2d 566 (1981), *See also, Gestson* v. *Scott*, 116 Wn.App. 616, 620, 67 P.3d 496 (2003). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on untenable grounds or reasons. *Kohfeld* v. *United* 

1

Pac. Ins. Co., 85 Wn. App. 34, 40, 931 P.2d 911 (Div. 1, 1997).

Whether storm water, rather than coal tar, contributed exclusively to the change in Waterway PAH levels, or in this case, whether the mere existence of a potential MTCA contaminant arose to being properly described as a currently existing MTCA waste for which the Trust might have any liability, is a question of fact, which the court should review under the substantial evidence standard. Substantial evidence is "evidence that would persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the statement asserted." *Cingular Wireless, LLC v. Thurston County*, 131 Wn.App. 756, 768, 129 P.3d 300 (2006).

One of the standards of review of attorney fee awards is if the award shocks the conscience, sense f justice and sound judgment of the appellate court, *Curtiss v. Y.M.C.A.*, 7 Wn.App. 98, 498 P.2d 330 (1972) *aff'd*, 82 Wn.2d 455, 511 P.2d 991 (1973), see also *Rasor v. Retail Credit*, 87 Wn.2d 516, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976).

#### **UNCONTROVERTED FACTS**

The C.P.B. & L Trust was formed as a spendthrift trust in the winding up of the Camille M. Fjetland guardianship Pierce Court Superior Court Cause No. 93-4-00307-5 to collect the balance owing of a sale price of property from Camille M. Fjetland and the B & L Trucking and Construction Company To 1621 Marine view Drive, Inc (subsequently Marine View, Inc.) that closed on January 25, 1996 and to hold the security interest in the property sold to the Marine View, Inc., interests. (CP 8, 7-49) The Trust never owned any interest in the property, other than a security interest, never operated any business or physical operations on said property nor assumed any obligations for prior owners or operators of said property and does not appear in the chain of title to said property except as a security holder. This is clear from the Port's own evidence, the title report as exhibited in the Declaration of Liberty Waters of January 23, 2012, Exhibit 4 as well as other uncontroverted evidence herein. (CP 179-350)

ŝ

After considerable cleanup for almost a year prior to closing of the sale, pursuant to agreements between the Port of Tacoma and the Marine View companies (Ex. 1 CP 179-350), a sale of the Marine View Property along with adjacent property formerly belonging to the Foran interests (Marine View North) was closed on May 26, 2006. This was over ten years after the original sale from Fjetland to Marine View. That Port of Tacoma Purchase and Sale Agreement provided that part of the Purchase price, \$500,000 from the Trust and \$500,000 from the Foran interests, the designated Seller's Creditors, or a similar amount from the proceeds due Marine View and Marine View North, could be held in escrow subject to a later possible claim by the Port not to exceed \$500,000 in the aggregated, for certain work: That Purchase and Sale agreement (to which the Trust was not a party), after clearly describing that Trust and Richard C. Foran as "Seller Creditors" provided specifically §3(c)(2) that (Ex. 1 CP 179-350):

"If within five (5) years of the Closing Date, Buyer discovers any construction debris or other material on the Marine View Property or the Marine View North Property which was not deposited pursuant to a valid permit, or any hazardous substances (as defined by any federal, state or local law) on the Marine View Inc., property or the Marine View North property which were not deposited on such property after Closing, then Buyer shall give notice to Seller and Seller Creditors of such discovery, which notice shall include a detailed estimate prepared by a qualified independent contractor qualified to contract with the Port of the costs to Buyer to remove such debris or other material or remediate such hazardous substances. Where practical, Buyer shall attempt to obtain a fixed bid for such removal, remediation or resolution."

This provision of the purchase and sale agreement was ignored and never complied with as admitted in the declaration of Leslee Conner, Project manager for Port remediation dated June 15, 2012 (CP 867, 860-922). The Port ignored this clear requirement despite having almost a year prior notice of existence of the substances it wanted to remediate (from 2009 to 2010) (CP 860-922).

While the Trust was not a party to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, it

was an obvious third party beneficiary of said contract. The Port further limited is rights to make claims under its Environmental Indemnity Agreement as set forth in §5© where the Port agreed:

Buyer agrees to look solely to the Special Escrow under Section  $3^{\circ}$  of this Agreement for satisfaction of indemnity claims under this Section  $5^{\circ}$ . In addition, Seller's obligations under Section  $5^{\circ}$  are limited to claims as to which Buyer has given written notice to Seller within five (5) years of Closing.

On May 23, 2011, three days before the escrow funds were to be paid to the Trust and the Forans, the Port sent a letter addressed to the Foran interests making claim against that escrow. While the Port mentioned many things in its letter of May 23, 2011, it only made claim for metal contaminations to the seller within five years of closing.

The Trust was not a party to the Purchase and Sale Agreement but a beneficiary of Section §3(c)(2). The Trust was a party to a separate special escrow agreement which provided holding \$500,000 of the funds it was entitled to in satisfaction of the Marine View Debt to it. Under that agreement those funds were clearly recognized as belonging to the Trust. The language of the Escrow Agreement on this point is very clear, Paragraph 10 (Ex. 2 CP 179-350):

**Funds in Escrow**. Except as provided in Sections 3 and 4 above, the Escrow Funds shall be the property of the Trust.

Accordingly, the Trust (and not the Escrow Agent) shall be obligated to pay any income taxes on the income of the funds held in Escrow. The Escrow Agent shall be obligated to issue or cause to be issued to the Trust all Forms 1099 and other forms reporting taxable income of the Escrow.

At most, all the Port had was a contingent claim of up to \$500,000.00 against the million dollars in funds belonging to Foran and the Trust. To make any claim, it had to not only meet section 3 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement but the added provisions of the Escrow Agreement. Those added provisions were as follows, Section 4 (Ex. 1 CP 179-350):

If within five (5) years of the "Closing Date" under the Purchase Agreement, the Port discovers any construction debris or other material on the Property which was not deposited pursuant to a valid permit, or discovers any hazardous substances (as defined by any federal, state or local law) on the Property which was not deposited or released onto the Property after the Closing Date, and such materials or condition are not within the scope of the Negotiated Cleanup Obligations, the Port shall give notice to Marine View Inc. and the Trust (with a copy to Escrow Agent) of such discovery on the Property, which notice shall include a detailed estimate prepared by a qualified independent contractor qualified to contract with the Port of the cost to the Port to remove such debris or other material or remediate such hazardous substances. Where practical, the Port shall attempt to obtain a fixed bid for such removal, remediation or resolution. After the Port furnishes the Trust and Marine View Inc., with notice of such discovery, Marine View, Inc. and the Trust shall each have a reasonable period of not less than 21 days with respect to hazardous substances, and 5 days with respect to debris or materials which are not hazardous substances, after receipt of notice from the Port (such 21- or 5- day periods to run concurrently) to comment upon the proposed remediation before work on said remediation shall commence, except in case of

### emergency threatening life or limb of persons on the Property or immediate destruction of the Property. (Emphasis added)

Under §5<sup>©</sup>, the Port further agreed:

"Buyer agrees to look solely to the Special escrow in Section  $3^{\circ}$  of this agreement for satisfaction of (Environmental) indemnity claims under Section  $5^{\circ}$ . In addition, Seller's obligations under this Section  $5^{\circ}$  are limited to claims as to which Buyer has given notice to Seller within 5 (5) years after closing."

The fact that this prior notice was never given is admitted by the Port in the declaration of its manager, Leslee Conner (CP 867, 860-922). Was it overlooked because of an emergency? No. Was it overlooked because of some action taken by the Trust? No. Was it even overlooked because, as the Port's counsel has argued, it really was not necessary? No. Leslie Conner has given the only evidence of why the Port failed to give the Trust the notice (page 7 her declaration of June 15, 2012, paragraph 14):

Port Failed to Provide Remediation 21-day Notice to Trust. The Trust has correctly asserted that the Port failed to provide the Trust with 21-day prior notice of the remediation, which would have allowed the Trust an opportunity to comment on the planned remediation. That failure was the result of an unintentional human error. For unknown reasons, the Port's files did not contain a copy of the Trusts's Escrow Agreement, which is the only place the 21day notice is identified. The omission was compounded by prior departures of Port staff that had managed the purchase of the property.

The five year period in which the claim had to be served on the Trust ended at midnight, May 25, 2011, because the Escrow agreement clearly stated that if no claim had been made by then, the Trust was to be paid on May 26, 2011. Chicago Title Insurance Company was directed to pay the Trust \$500,000.00 by the express terms of Trust's escrow agreement on **"the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date..."** of that agreement (Escrow Agreement ¶ 7 emphasis added) if no claim had been filed within the preceding five years. May 26, 2011, was that fifth anniversary and the Port did not serve the Trust with any claim or notice of claim or any other document until May 26, 2011.

After providing all of these notice requirement to perfect any claims against the Sellers and the Seller's Creditors, The Buyer Port, in the Purchase and Sale agreement gave this rather complete release of the Trust and All other interest parties §5(d):

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