No. 439409

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

C.P.B. & L. Trust

Appellant,

v.

The Port of Tacoma,

Respondent.

COURT OF APPEALS
2013 MAR 29 PH 3: 58
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY DEPUTY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Mark S. Nadler, WSBA No. 18126 Liberty Waters, WSBA No. 37034 Attorneys for Port of Tacoma, Respondent

The Nadler Law Group PLLC 719 2nd Ave Suite 704 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 621-1433

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

e. The Doctrine of Equitable Estoppel Does Not Bar the Port's Recovery.

Nor does the doctrine of equitable estoppel bar the Port's recovery of the escrow funds. The Port was obligated to provide notice to the Trust within five years after closing. The failure to do so prior to removal of the materials is not inconsistent with the Port's claim for the escrow funds. Even if the Trust could establish that the Port acted inconsistently with its escrow claim, the Trust has not proven that it detrimentally relied upon the Port's silence. The authority cited by the Trust holds that while a party may be estopped from insisting upon a forfeiture by its conduct (which the Port is not), the doctrine of estoppel *cannot* be used to create a contract that does not exist or create a liability contrary to the express terms of the contract. *Saunders v. Lloyd's of London*, 113 Wn.2d 330, 335-336 (1989).

that there was a guaranty at issue and proceeding to interpret the contract); *Amick v. Baugh*, 66 Wn.2d 298, 302-04, 402 P.2d 342 (1965) (indicating that the parties disagreed about whether one party signed the document as a surety or absolute guarantor and holding the individual was an absolute guarantor primarily because of the use of words like "guarantor" in the agreement).

Here the express terms of the contract only allowed for a non-binding comment period, no more. The Trust did not prove any detriment from its inability to make these comments, so the doctrine of equitable estoppel is inapplicable.

3. The Port Established that it Discovered and Provided Notice of Hazardous Substances Within Five Years After Closing

The Escrow Agreement requires the escrow funds to be disbursed to the Port if within five years after the closing, the Port provides notice of the discovery of hazardous substances on the Property, which were not deposited after the closing. CP 228-236. The Port provided uncontroverted evidence that each of these terms were satisfied, and the escrow funds were properly disbursed to the Port.

a. The Undisputed Facts Establish that the Hazardous Substances Were Placed Prior to the Sale

The Port's environmental programs project manager Leslee Conner, and its independent consultant Mark Dagel, each testified that the contamination discovered by the Port pre-existed the 2006 PSA, that the contamination found by the Port is inconsistent with use of the Property by the Port post-purchase, and that it is consistent with the use of the Property pre-purchase. CP 863; CP 925; CP 928. The Trust provided no competent evidence to dispute these facts. The only evidence it provided in

opposition to the Port's summary judgment motion was the unfounded musings of the Trust's counsel that because a map allegedly annotated by William Fjetland with locations of buried Asarco slag did not identify the Property, then the deposits must not have been significant enough to include on the map. CP 396-407. Counsel has provided no foundation for the map or for any inferences that might be drawn from missing information. This "evidence" would be inadmissible at trial, and thus is insufficient to create a disputed material fact to overcome summary judgment. In addition, neither this "evidence," nor any other evidence provided by the Trust contradicted the Port's evidence that the petroleum contamination existed prior to the sale. And finally, the Trust's argument in its appellate brief that the Port somehow "exposed and released" materials that already existed at the time of sale, thus making them hazardous substances only after the sale, completely misconstrues the environmental laws referenced in the Escrow Agreement. See, e.g. RCW 70.105D.020 (10), (25); RCW 70.105D.030

b. The May 26, 2011 letter was timely under the terms of the Escrow Agreement.

The Trust argues that the five year period specified for the Port to provide notice of the discovery of hazardous substances ended at midnight on May 25, 2011, and therefore the Port's May 26, 2011 letter was

untimely. Appellant's Brief at p 30. This argument is not supported by the language of the agreement.

If within five(5) years of the "Closing Date"... the Port discovers ...hazardous substances ... [T]he Port shall give notice to Marine View Inc. and the Trust ...

Upon the ... fifth (5^{th}) anniversary of the Closing Date . . the balance remaining in the Escrow Account (as to which no claim has been given by the Port as set forth herein . . .) . . . shall be released to the Trust.

CP 229-230. It is undisputed that the sale of the Property closed on May 26, 2006. CP 8; CP 385. The trial court properly rejected the Trust's argument, holding that the anniversary date is included in calculating the due date for the Port's claim. The trial court stated in pertinent part:

And the five years doesn't work either, as I read this very carefully, because – which I was concerned about – because if it was five years, that would end on the 25th . . . But this actually says on the fifth anniversary, which would possibly mean the same day five years later. . . And which is the day you did get notice.

CP 844.

The Trust does not cite any authority to support its interpretation of how the five years should be counted, and the Trust's argument is contrary to over 150 years of precedent on this issue:

The general current of the modern authorities on the interpretation of contracts, and also of statutes, where time is to be computed from a particular day or a particular event, as when an act is to be performed within a specified period from or after a day named, is to exclude the day thus

designated, and to include the last day of the specified period.

Sheets v. Selden's Lessee, 69 U.S. 177, 190 (1865) (also cited by Burnet v. Willingham Loan & Trust Co., 282 U.S. 437, 439 (1931)).

[I]n computing time under statutes and contracts the law disregards fractions of a day, unless on account of the subject matter, or for other important reasons, justice requires that they should be regarded... In reckoning from a day or a date, the rule generally adopted excludes the day from which the reckoning runs.

Perkins v. Jennings, 27 Wash. 145, 149, 67 P. 590 (1902) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Because the closing occurred on May 26, 2006, the first day of the five year count began on May 27, 2006, and the last day of the five years occurred on May 26, 2011. Thus, the Port's notice was timely. CP 283-299.

The Trust also argues that the Port's claim for reimbursement for petroleum contamination is time barred, alleging that it was first raised in July 2011. Appellant Brief at p 37. However, the evidence clearly establishes that the Port provided notice of the discovery of both petroleum contamination and metals contamination by May 26, 2011. CP 283-299. The Port's notice letter sent to the Escrow agent and Marine View on May 23, 2011, and to the Trust on May 26, 2011, stated several times that the Port was emphasizing the contaminated metals claim because, standing alone, that claim exceeded the \$500,000 in the Escrow

Agreement. CP 283-299. However, this letter also identified and specifically provided notice of other contamination found, including petroleum contaminated soils. The letter stated as follows:

The Port discovered high levels of contamination of the Property in 2009 and 2010 during wildlife mitigation pre-design and construction activities on the Property. The Port's discoveries included:

- 1. Metals contamination soils, including arsenic, chromium, copper, lead, and zinc;
- 2. Petroleum contaminated soils;

To expedite review and processing of this claim against the \$500,000 in escrow, the Port presents itemized costs for only a portion of the Port's remediation expenses: those arising out of the metals-contaminated fill material.

CP 287-289 (emphasis supplied). Thus, the Port provided timely notice of the discovery of both the metals *and the petroleum* contaminated soils.

4. The Undisputed Facts Establish that the Port Incurred Significantly More Costs than the Available Escrow Funds to Remediate the Hazardous Substances

The Port's evidence establishes that the clean-up costs expended by the Port for the remediation of the newly discovered contamination is over \$2.5 million. Yet, the Port is limited to recovering the \$490,000 in the Court's registry. CP 865-875.

The declarations of Mr. Dagel and Ms. Conner describe why

MTCA required the remediation undertaken by the Port, and that there was

no less costly method of remediation available that complied with MTCA.

CP 860-870: CP 923-929. Further, Ms. Conner testified that the Port was motivated to comply in the least expensive manner possible since it knew clean-up costs would greatly exceed the \$500,000, and it was aware of no other entities liable to reimburse the Port. CP 869. The Trust provided no competent evidence to controvert these facts and meet its burden to raise a genuine issue of material fact to overcome the Port's motion for summary judgment.

In fact, the Trust did not support any of its allegations in response to the Port's Motion with admissible evidence. It merely provided argument, and conclusory statements and opinions of its counsel. CP 7-49; CP 392-395; CP 396-407; CP988-1016. Courts may not consider inadmissible evidence when ruling on motions for summary judgment, thus, courts are required to disregard legal opinions expressed in declarations because they constitute inadmissible evidence. *King County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 16 v. Hous. Auth. of King County*, 123 Wn.2d 819, 826, 872 P.2d 516 (1994). Additionally, conclusory statements in a brief that are unsupported will not be considered by the court when deciding a motion for summary judgment. *Kirk v. Moe*, 114 Wn.2d 550, 557, 789 P.2d 84 (1990). The only evidence provided by the Trust during this litigation were the declarations of its counsel Mr. Campbell. Mr. Campbell's various declarations are rife with unsupported, conclusory

statements, none of which are competent evidence that may be considered by the Court. CP 943-987 and CP 1222-1224. Moreover, the numerous legal opinions expressed by Campbell in his declarations must be disregarded. None of the actual evidence supplied by the Trust was relevant to the determination of whether the terms of the Escrow Agreement required disbursement of the escrow funds to the Port.

5. The Trust's Criticisms of the Port's Evidence Are Without Merit

In lieu of requesting the data and samples collected by the Port's consultant, and hiring an expert to analyze this data to provide admissible evidence regarding the existence of hazardous substances or the timing of their placement, the Trust merely complains about the Port's evidence.

The Trust unbelievably asserts that testimony the Port provided in the form of a declaration from its environmental manager should not have been considered because it was not provided in open court at trial. Appellant's Brief at p 4. This flies in the face of CR56, which specifically authorizes the use of affidavits in support of summary judgment motions.

Furthermore, there are no triable issues of fact if the Trust cannot provide any admissible evidence to contradict the material facts established by the Port. CR 56.

The Trust also asserts that because the contamination was

removed, the trial court should not have considered the Port's evidence of its costs. Appellant's brief at p 3. This seventh assignment of error is without merit, as no evidence was destroyed, 10 and the Trust provides no authority to support its assertion.

The Determination of the Trust's (or its beneficiary's)
 MTCA Allocation Absent the Contractual Release is
 Irrelevant and a Red Herring

The Trust's sixth, eighth, and sixteenth assignments of error confuse the Port's contractual claims to recover escrow funds set aside to pay for remedial costs with a statutory claim for contribution under MTCA. The only relevance that the Trust's (or its beneficiary's) MTCA liability has to this matter is the fact that the Port provided a release of that liability (whatever it might be) under the PSA in exchange for access to the escrow funds pursuant to the Escrow Agreement if the Port discovered and removed hazardous substances on the Property. CP 188-189. Whether the Trust would ultimately be held liable under MTCA and the amount that it (and other parties) would be allocated in a contribution action had the Port not agreed to release those claims, is irrelevant to the determination of the parties' contractual obligations.

¹⁰See footnote 8, *supra*, regarding the available data and soil samples. Regardless, the spoilation doctrine is inapplicable here because at the time the hazardous substances were removed, the Port did not anticipate litigation. *EEOC v. Fry's Elecs.*, *Inc.*, 874 F. Supp. 2d 1042, 1044 (W.D. Wash. 2012).

The Trust also mischaracterizes the Port's arguments at the trial court level. The Port has never asserted that it should be excused from its contractual obligations based (somehow) on the Trust's pre-existing MTCA liability. Appellant's Brief at pp 2-3. The Port has always maintained that the 21-day comment provision was an immaterial term and that the failure to perform this promise did not excuse the Trust's performance. CP 65-66; CP 351-376.

Although the Trust's comprehension and application of MTCA to the facts of this case is seriously flawed¹¹, the Port will not refute each of the Trust's argument as they are wholly irrelevant to this litigation. Neither the Port (as the Trust claims in its sixth assignment of error), nor the Trust, has asserted *any* statutory contribution claim under MTCA. CP 2-6; CP 539-551. Furthermore, the trial court never made a finding that the Trust had MTCA liability, because it is irrelevant to the parties' claims under the Escrow Agreement.

D. The Trust's Allegation that its Equal Protection Rights
Were Violated Simply Because it did not Prevail is
Unfounded and Frivolous

The Trust alleges that the trial court did not treat the Trust equally

¹¹ For example, the Trust's inability to collect escrow funds pursuant to contract terms is not the same as incurring costs to perform a remedial action that is substantially equivalent to a department led cleanup and for which a private right of contribution exists under MTCA. RCW 70.105D.040. Thus, the Trust's argument that its contribution rights have been impaired are spurious.

because it "favor[ed] the Port on all issues of fact and at law while giving the Trust the least favorable position." Brief of Appellant. This argument is tantamount to saying that the Trust's equal protection rights were violated because it lost.

Equal protection of the laws under state and federal constitutions requires that persons similarly situated with respect to the legitimate purpose of the law receive like treatment. *Campos v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 75 Wn. App. 379; 880 P.2d 543 (1994). The Port and the Trust are not similarly situated. The trial court ruled in favor of the Port because the law required it to do so based upon the undisputed material facts and the terms of the parties' agreement. The Trust's twelfth assignment of error is specious and frivolous, and it should be disregarded.

E. The Trial Court Properly Awarded the Port its Reasonable Attorney Fees and Costs.

The trial court properly awarded the Port attorney fees pursuant to the specific language of the Escrow Agreement that is the basis of the Port's successful claims. That agreement states:

In the event of litigation between the Parties relating to this Agreement, the Party that is determined by a final non-appealable order of a court of competent jurisdiction to be the prevailing Party shall be entitled to be reimbursed by the other Party for all of the reasonable legal fees and disbursements such prevailing Party has incurred in connection with such litigation, including any appeal therefrom.

CP 232. The Trust's assertion that it should have been awarded fees regardless of the outcome has no basis in fact or law. A party may only recover attorney fees if it is specifically authorized by agreement, by statute, or a recognized ground in equity. *Humphrey Indus., Ltd. v. Clay St. Assocs.*, LLC, 2013 Wash. LEXIS 141 (Wash. Feb. 14, 2013) (citing *Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1 v. State*, 90 Wn.2d 476, 540, 585 P.2d 71 (1978)). The Trust cites to no statue allowing it to recover fees for a contract action in which it did not prevail. Furthermore, the parties' agreement clearly provides for the prevailing party (the Port) to be reimbursed its reasonable attorney fees.

In its appellate brief, the Trust appears to be making an equitable argument against an award of attorney fees that was not raised below.

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